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that he should receive it.132 Sayre also supported another refugee, Sarah Wheeler, whose 

husband had died during the conflict, leaving her and her children without subsistence. 

Sayre noted that he was “well acquainted” with Wheeler’s husband, calling him a “very 

honest, industrious man and uniformly loyal to the King.” Sayre wrote that she should 

receive assistance otherwise she would not “be able to support herself and [her] three 

small children.”133  

Third, Sayre serviced Anglicans within British lines. He traveled to Huntington on 

Long Island twice in 1781, where he preached and also baptized children. He planned to 

return there a third time but fell sick. He later learned that the house he had lodged at in 

Huntington had been “strictly searched…by a Party of armedmen [sic] from 

Connecticut” who sought to capture Sayre. There were frequently raids back and forth 

by Patriots and Loyalists across Long Island Sound. Sayre decided that it was “unsafe 

for me to repeat my visits.”134 In 1782, Sayre worked to accommodate the refugees so 

they could attend Anglican services in New York City. He noted that there were 

numerous refugees who “could not procure pews in the Churches” so he requested and 

was granted the right by Governor James Robertson to use a large room in the City Hall 

to “accommodate the Refugees.” Sayre reported that the room was “tolerably seated” and 
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the “Refugee Clergy attend it…[and] the audience is large and respectable.” By the end 

of the war, John Sayre was a prominent leader of the Loyalist refugees.135  

 The news of Yorktown in 1781 shocked many Loyalists, who had expected a 

British victory and were astonished by the magnitude of the defeat. After Yorktown, 

Parliamentary support for the war collapsed, and peace negotiations began, where it was 

agreed that Great Britain would recognize American independence. Loyalists were 

devastated, and John Sayre noted that “It is impossible for words to describe the universal 

Consternation which was produced here [on arrival of the news].”136 As the Treaty of 

Paris ending the war effectively offered no protection for Loyalists from Patriot 

persecution, many ultimately decided to leave the newly-formed United States and 

instead seek out new homes in other parts of the British Empire. Along with more than 

30,000 others, many of Newburgh’s Loyalists chose to settle in Nova Scotia.137 

 

 In conclusion, the Loyalists faced widespread persecution from Newburgh’s 

Revolutionaries during the first three years of the war. Patriots became increasingly 

aggressive in dealing with Loyalist dissidents from 1775 to 1777, as the British military 

threat to the region escalated. The British threat had a unique effect on Newburgh, 

compared to the surrounding area, as Newburgh was the only community in its 

immediate vicinity with a sizeable population that could pose a real danger in case of a 
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British attack. Most early persecution was directed at poor Anglicans who were viewed 

as a threat and made up the core of the Loyalist community. As the persecution escalated, 

Loyalists began fleeing to British-occupied New York City. Many of the Loyalists who 

went to New York City were utilized by the British army for their knowledge of the local 

area, acting as army guides and recruiters in the countryside. Others participated directly 

in military service. Generally, the more militant Loyalists tended to be poor Anglicans. 

The Loyalists’ wartime experiences were shaped by Newburgh’s location, the Loyalist 

community’s size, British military movement, their geographic knowledge of the Hudson 

Valley, and the Loyalists’ wealth and religion. 
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CHAPTER 4: EXILE TO CANADA  

 When the war ended in 1783, many Loyalists from Newburgh chose to go to exile 

in Canada rather than return to their homes. Most who went to Canada settled in New 

Brunswick, although some moved to what would become Upper Canada and Prince 

Edward Island. Those who settled in Canada generally came from the core of the Loyalist 

community; poor Anglicans. Reverend John Sayre, a Connecticut minister who had been 

a strong leader for the Loyalists in New York City, now helped organize and develop the 

settlement in New Brunswick. When the Loyalists arrived in Canada, they sought to 

recreate aspects of their old society by settling near former neighbors and by also 

participating in the Church of England. Several Loyalists, who had been poor in 

Newburgh, bettered their social status and increased their wealth. The Loyalists who 

settled in Canada were generally poor Anglicans, and recreated semblances of their old 

society by settling near erstwhile neighbors, adhering to their Anglican faith, while 

simultaneously bettering their societal status.  

Preparing for Canada 

 As the war came to an end and Great Britain agreed to acknowledge American 

independence, many Loyalist refugees in New York City questioned what they should 

do. While many wanted to return home, it was regarded as unsafe. As Sir Guy Carleton 

observed, “[they] deem it unsafe to remain here after the King’s troops remove from 

hence.”1 John Sayre also noted that many “with good reason [are] afraid to abide in 
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America.”2 Additionally, the Treaty of Paris provided effectively no protection because 

it only required that Congress “earnestly recommend” to the states the restitution of “all 

estates, rights, and properties, which have been confiscated belonging to real British 

subjects.”3 Facing these conditions in the United States, many Loyalists chose exile in 

other regions of the British Empire. The Loyalists settled all over the Atlantic world, 

including Great Britain, Quebec, Jamaica and the Bahamas, but most moved to Nova 

Scotia.4 It was relatively close to New York, known to be habitable, and was also sparsely 

populated, meaning there were vast tracts of uninhabited land available for settlement. 

The influx of Loyalist refugees to Nova Scotia eventually led to the partition of the 

colony in August 1784, and the western section became the Loyalist majority colony of 

New Brunswick. Most of the Loyalists from Newburgh who left the United States settled 

in the new province.5  

 After news of peace and independence arrived, Loyalists began to make concrete 

plans for settlement in Canada. Newburgh’s Loyalists were very involved in this process. 

A private association, the Bay of Fundy Adventurers, was established in New York City 

and designed to plan and organize the new settlement. Members of the association elected 
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a board of fourteen agents in mid-1782, known of as the “New York Agency,” who would 

lead the journey.6 Three of the fourteen agents were from Newburgh: John Sayre, George 

Harding, and William Harding.7 Of these men, John Sayre participated the most in 

planning and developing the settlement. The agents requested provisions, weapons, 

clothing, medicine and other items they believed were necessary for the settlement’s 

success, as well as 300 to 600 acres of surveyed land for each Loyalist family. Carleton 

agreed to provide the supplies as long as they were available but he could not grant the 

land, and instead brought this request to the attention of Nova Scotia’s Governor, John 

Parr.8   

 Three of the agents, Amos Botsford, Frederick Hauser, and Samuel Cummings, 

went to Nova Scotia in October 1782 and began looking for “Tracts of Land…[that] can 

be found sufficient to accommodate the Loyalists and their Families.” They were 

instructed to find land with good soil, timber, and with satisfactory “Bays, Creeks, 

Harbors, Streams and Ponds of Water.”9 While John Sayre remained in New York, he 

was actively involved in this process. He and Reverend Samuel Seabury wrote to the 

three agents suggesting that settling “on S. Johns river [sic] will be preferable to any 

other, on account of the soil, the lumber and the fur trade.” The St. John River was located 

on the sparsely settled west side of the Bay of Fundy and had potential farmland along 
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the river.10 After visiting the St. John River, the three representatives agreed with Sayre 

and Seabury’s assessment, calling it “a fine river, equal in magnitude to the Hudson or 

Connecticut” with “a fine harbor, accessible at all seasons.” With the settlement location 

confirmed, Sayre took the representative’s letters describing the river and “published 

large Extracts from them in the newspapers here [New York City], which have done 

much good,” and also said that “Probably four hundred Families” would soon join the 

agents in Canada.11 Sayre convinced many of those he preached to on Long Island to join 

the new settlement. At the end of May 1783, with the first fleet of Loyalist refugees soon 

heading to the St. John River, Sayre wrote to the three representatives in Canada that 

“Considering the great number of Persons who will remove to the Province of Nova 

Scotia, we think you had better take up some more Land than you have mentioned.” 

Sayre believed the community would be inundated with refugees and there would not be 

enough land. Sayre also suggested that a tract of land at the mouth of the St. John River 

would be an ideal location for building the capital as it would “Command the Trade of 

the Country lying on its banks.”12  

 In addition to organizing the Loyalist settlement, Sayre sought to acquire special 

privileges and join the nascent New Brunswick elite. In July 1783, Sayre and fifty-five 

other “Gentlemen clergy and Merchants” petitioned Carleton, each requesting 5,000 
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acres of land as they were “Loyalists, of the most respectable character.” Additionally, 

they asked that the land be free of quit-rents and that it be “surveyed and divided at the 

Expence [sic] of the Government.”13 Carleton forwarded the request to Governor Parr, 

and Sayre was selected by the fifty-five as one of the agents “to solicit your Excellency 

[Governor Parr] for grants of Lands in that province, for their future residence.”14 Sayre, 

and the other Loyalists who signed the petition, believed that the new society would need 

a social elite and sought to acquire that status through land ownership. The petition was 

resented by other Loyalists, who counter-petitioned Carleton, arguing that the fifty-five 

were “more distinguished by the repeated favors of Government than by either the 

greatness of their sufferings or importance of their Services.” Among the signatories of 

was Sayre’s former parishioner, John Wiggins. This conflict foreshadowed class 

antagonisms that would boil over after the arrival of the Loyalists.15  

 In addition to organizing the settlement, Sayre sought to strengthen the Anglican 

Church in North America. After learning of forthcoming American Independence, Sayre 

wrote that “the Country Congregations in most parts of North America, will be unable to 

support Ministers” as Anglicans, particularly in the North, frequently remained loyal, 

meaning that many had been driven from their homes, disrupting and diminishing the 

                                                           
13 Sir Guy Carleton to John Parr, August 1, 1783, in Carleton Papers, in the Harriet Irving Library, 
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“apparently expiring Church.” Sayre also noted that he was offered the ministry of 

Newtown, Connecticut but rejected the overture.16 Sayre likely felt that his status as a 

prominent Loyalist endangered his and his family’s safety in the United States. Instead, 

Sayre shared the common belief among clergy and the British government that 

structuring the new society around the Anglican Church would create a bond with King, 

thereby increasing conformity and decreasing the possibility of further colonial 

dissension. In this vein, Sayre and other leading Anglican ministers, including Reverends 

                                                           
16 John Sayre to S.P.G., April 14, 1782, S.P.G. Letters (Series B), Volume XXI, 359. 



129 
 

Charles Inglis and Samuel Seabury, requested the creation of the Bishop of Nova Scotia 

in a petition on March 21, 1783.17 They asked that Thomas Bradbury Chandler, who had  

been minister in Elizabethtown New Jersey before the war, be appointed Bishop, as he 

was “much respected through the Continent, & is well qualified.”18 The episcopate was 

established in 1787 with Charles Inglis appointed Bishop of Nova Scotia as opposed to  

Chandler, whose health was deteriorating. Sayre was one of many Anglican ministers in 

North America responsible for strengthening the Church of England after the American 

Revolution.19  

Figure 17: A map of Loyalist New Brunswick, showing the towns of Fredericton, Maugerville and Saint 
John. From Bell, Early Loyalist Saint John, 34. 
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Settlement in Canada and a New Life 

 All of the Loyalists from Newburgh who left the United States settled in Canada. It 

can be confirmed that twelve settled in Canada although the actual number is probably 

substantially higher.20 Of these Loyalists, the vast majority settled in New Brunswick, 

which became a separate colony from Nova Scotia in August 1784. As with all Loyalists, 

those from Newburgh faced the problem of creating a new world and society. In reaction 

to this significant change, Newburgh’s Loyalists structured their society so that it 

maintained vestiges of their old world. They settled near one another, maintained 

community connections from Newburgh, and also clung to their Anglican faith.   

In New Brunswick, Newburgh’s Loyalists were mostly concentrated in two areas; 

the first was in Kings County, about twenty miles north of St. John. John Flewelling, his 

son Morris, and John Morrell lived there. John and Morris both lived in Long Reach, 

while Morrell lived a few miles to the northeast, at Belleisle.21  Both Abel Flewelling and 
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George Harding were also granted land in Kings County after arriving, however, Harding 

left almost immediately while Flewelling probably moved a few years later. William 

Harding also seems to have been there for a longer time. The second location of 

Newburgh settlement was around fifty miles north of St. John along the St. John River, 

in Maugerville and Gagetown.  By 1785, Benjamin Darby had settled in the vicinity of 

Gagetown, while John Sayre and George Harding settled about fifteen miles east, in 

Maugerville. Sayre arrived in Maugerville very early, arriving before the end of 1783. 

Abel Flewelling also settled in Maugerville a few years later. The close proximity of 

Newburgh’s Loyalists in New Brunswick enabled them to maintain community 

connections with erstwhile neighbors, thereby recreating part of their old society.22  

The only Loyalists from Newburgh who left the United States and never lived in 

New Brunswick were the Purdys, who settled in Quebec. Although Gilbert Purdy died in 

1777 while in Loyalist forces, his family also remained loyal to the crown. His son David 

spent one year in the Guides and Pioneers, and the family eventually went to New York 

City as refugees. After the war, rather than going to the Maritimes with other Loyalists 

from Newburgh, they went to Quebec, and wintered in a Loyalist refugee camp at Sorel, 

some forty miles northeast of Montreal. The following year the family moved to 
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Cataraqui in what would become Upper Canada in 1791, near Kingston and near the 

shore of Lake Ontario.23   

 After their settlement, Newburgh’s Loyalists were far from stationary. 

Some returned to the United States, while others moved to different provinces. Abel 

Flewelling and George Harding, after initially settling in Kings County, removed north 

to Maugerville in Sunbury County. Benjamin Darby settled in Grimross, Queens County 

after his arrival, but moved to Prince Edward Island in 1786, where he was granted 500 

acres of land in St. Eleanors along Bedeque Bay.24 John Welling, a Loyalist from New 

Windsor, became Darby’s neighbor a few years later and was granted 300 acres.25 John 

Sayre’s family was also mobile. Sayre fell sick and died in 1784, leaving his wife and 

family without his support. His wife, Mary, was “driven by necessity with her three 

youngest children to Pennsylvania” two years later as she had family there who could 

support her. The family itself was split up, as some of Sayre’s children, including his 
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twenty-five year old son James, remained in Maugerville.26 Gilbert Purdy’s family was 

also divided, as he had left a wife and eight children behind after his death. The entire 

family seems to have settled in Cataraqui after the conclusion of the war, but many 

returned to Newburgh including Purdy’s widow who, as of 1786 lived on her husband’s 

farm along with three of her children. She was allowed to live on the farm for at least a 

few years following the war, but was informed that the land had been confiscated and the 

title no longer belonged to her. The remaining five children lived in Cataraqui.27   

 In addition to settling near each other, Newburgh’s Loyalists maintained 

community connections by aiding each other when applying for compensation. 

Following the war, the British government set up a commission designed receive claims 

for compensation from Loyalists, and then determine if and how much an individual 

would receive given their wartime losses. In order to strengthen their claims, Loyalists 

frequently relied on neighbors and friends who served as a witnesses. For example, in 

the Purdy family claim in 1788, Samuel Fowler and George Merritt, both of whom 

remained in Newburgh, signed a deposition which said that the Purdy family had 

“suffered…both in lives and abuses” and that Mrs. Purdy had assisted Loyalists passing 

through the area seeking refuge.28 When John Morrell filed for compensation 

Cadwallader Colden Jr., John Sayre, and John Wiggins each vouched for him. Colden 
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and Sayre signed a certificate which said Morrell had “the character of an honest and 

Industrious Man” and also asserted that he took early opposition to the war. John Wiggins 

contended that Morrell had been “much harassed on account of his loyalty” and was 

“often made prisoner.”29 Stephen Pine relied on his son Alpheus as a witness, who said 

he remained home after “his Father went within the Lines” and that he witnessed Patriots 

confiscate “Farming utensils, Household Furniture” in addition to a horse and a mare.30 

When Abel Flewelling requested compensation, John Wiggins, George Leonard, and 

William Harding all served as witnesses.31  

 Newburgh’s Loyalists also retained part of their lost world through the Anglican 

Church. Of the twelve Loyalists who can be confirmed to have settled in Canada, eight 

were Anglican, of which seven were among the middling or poor Anglicans whose real 

and personal property was valued at less than £3 before the war. As Newburgh’s poor 

Anglicans were the most militant Loyalists, they were more frequently went into exile. 

Thus, even in Canada, Newburgh’s Loyalist community maintained its basic 

characteristics of being poor and Anglican.  Many of the Loyalists continued to structure 

their lives around the Anglican Church. John Sayre founded the first Anglican parish in 

Maugerville and serviced the congregation until his death in 1784.32 George Harding, 
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who had been a regular subscriber to St. George’s in Newburgh, was selected as 

vestryman of the Maugerville parish in 1784, and Abel Flewelling additionally served as 

vestryman of the same parish years later.33 Harding was also interested in extending the 

influence of the Anglican Church in other towns. He, along with John Sayre’s son James, 

signed a petition to Governor Thomas Carleton in 1793 concerning the Anglican Church 

in neighboring Sheffield. The petition requested a “grant of a vacant lot…as a glebe for 

that Parish.”34 John Morrel and Benjamin Darby were also active Anglicans. Morrell was 

a member of Trinity Church in Kingston, New Brunswick, while Benjamin Darby was 

part of an Anglican congregation on Prince Edward Island. Despite being far from home, 

the poor Anglicans from Newburgh, who made up the core of the Loyalist community, 

maintained a strong attachment to the Church of England.35 

 After settling in Canada, Newburgh’s Loyalists partook in a variety of activities in 

their new world. For example, John Sayre continued to minister to Anglicans, while 

Gilbert Purdy Jr. owned a shop in Ernestown, Upper Canada. Many of the Loyalists, who 

were of the middle and poorer sort in Newburgh, improved their social standing in 

Canada. Their exile in a new community provided them an opportunity to improve their 

social status and carve out a more influential role in a developing society.  This improved 

standing manifested itself in courtesy titles, slave ownership, and government positions.  
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 Reverend John Sayre continued to be an active Anglican and a community leader, 

although many rank and file Loyalists in New Brunswick came to resent him. He founded 

the parish of Maugerville in 1783 and served as its first minister. With no church 

building, Sayre preached to his congregation at the Congregationalist Meetinghouse, 

which had been established by early settlers.36 However, Sayre faced greater problems 

than not having a church, as much of the Loyalist community turned against him and 

other Loyalist elites. They were embittered by the slow surveying and granting of land 

and resented the favoritism shown to Sayre and other members of the so called “fifty-

five” who had petitioned Carleton requesting special status. Sayre benefited from his 

status and was one of only six grantees in St. John to have received his lot by the summer 

of 1783, the other five also being of the Loyalist elite.37 Sayre was accused of betraying 

rank and file Loyalists as “an agent for the Fifty-five” and one observer commented that 

Sayre was justly treated with “contempt and neglect” after his arrival. Sayre was also 

vehemently denounced in the newspaper for being part of the fifty-five. One poem 

published in January 1784, castigated Sayre, declaring: 

May he, the author of our woes, 

Far fiercer than our rebel foes,  

Have his due portion near a lake, 

Which is ordain’d to such by fate; 

May living worms his corps devour, 

Him and his comrades fifty-four: 
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A scandal to both church and state, 

The rebel’s friend, the public’s hate.38 

 

 

The vitriol directed at Sayre is remarkable in its savage content and highlights the class 

antagonisms of the new society. Sayre, who had been a leader of the refugee community 

in New York City, serving as a minister, physician and chaplain, was seen as having 

betrayed his fellow Loyalists by joining the nascent social elite of New Brunswick.  

While Sayre had been of the Loyalist elite since the beginning of the war due to 

being a clergyman, many others from the lower ranks of Newburgh bettered their social 

                                                           
38 Gwendolyn Davies, “New Brunswick Loyalist Printers in the Post-war Atlantic World: Cultural 

Transfer and Cultural Challenges.” In The Loyal Atlantic: Remaking the British Atlantic in the 

Revolutionary Era ed. Jerry Bannister and Liam Riordan. (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 

2012), 137.    

Figure 18: Christ Church, the current Anglican Church in Maugerville. John Sayre founded the parish in 
1783, where George Harding and later Abel Flewelling served as vestrymen. The current building was 
constructed in 1856. Photo taken by the author. 
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status and gained wealth in Canada. For example, Abel Flewelling was recorded as arriving 

in New Brunswick with two servants in addition to his wife and four children. Those 

servants were still lived with him in May 1784, although no record of them is made in his 

will in 1814. Flewelling would not have been able to acquire any servants unless he 

possessed some wealth.39 Also, by the early 1800s, Flewelling had taken on the title 

“esquire” and was a magistrate in Maugerville, indicating his influence in the Loyalist 

community.40 Flewelling also seems to have been a moneylender, as in 1807 he published 

an advertisement in the The Royal Gazette requesting that “all Persons indebted to the 

Subscriber [Flewelling] by Bond, Note, or Book debt, thank unless they discharge their 

respective accounts within Six Months from the date hereof; they will be put into the hands 

of an Attorney.” Flewelling, who had been a carpenter in the middle of Newburgh’s ranks, 

became a prominent and influential individual in Loyalist New Brunswick.41  

 Like Flewelling, George Harding, who was the poorest Loyalist in Newburgh on 

the 1767 assessment list, also gained wealth and improved his societal standing in New 

Brunswick. He continued to be called “Captain” Harding for the rest of his life and it 

seems he acquired wealth during the war as he arrived with two servants in 1783.42 He 

also served as a vestryman to the Anglican Church in Maugerville, a position he never 

held at St. George’s in Newburgh. Additionally, he actively bought and sold slaves and 

                                                           
39 Bell, American Loyalists to New Brunswick, 215; R. Wallace Hale, Early New Brunswick 

Probate Records, 1785-1835. (Bowie, MD; Heritage Books, 1989), 152; “Servant” was 

sometimes a euphemism for slave, 
40 Lorenzo Sabine, The American Loyalists or Biographical Sketches of Adherents to the British 

Crown in the War of the Revolution. (Boston: Charles C. Little and James Brown, 1847), 289; 

The Royal Gazette (New Brunswick), May 22, 1809.  
41 The Royal Gazette, (New Brunswick) July 23, 1807. 
42 Bell, American Loyalists New Brunswick, 221.  
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gradually acquired more slaves as he aged, a sign of increased wealth. For example, in 

1797 he sold his slave “Sippo” to his son John for £15.43 His will in 1808 suggests that 

he bought more slaves, as it says that he left his daughter Elizabeth “all Negro slaves or 

servants.”44  

 Benjamin Darby, who had been a lowly shoemaker in Newburgh, rose to 

prominence on Prince Edward Island. Darby arrived in 1786 and lived on 500 acres with 

a very large family, as the 1798 census showed his household had eleven people.45 He 

was elected to the House of Assembly in 1790, and served intermittently throughout the 

decade. He was a sitting member from 1790 to 1792, and again in 1795, but was reported 

absent in 1797 and his seat was recorded vacant in 1798. This rise to prominence by 

Darby and Flewelling, and the increased wealth of Harding, illustrates how Newburgh’s 

Loyalists, who were generally poor, were able to take advantage of the Revolution’s 

social disorder and carve out greater wealth and influence in an incipient society.46  

 Gilbert Purdy Jr., who settled in Upper Canada, made his place by establishing a 

business. He ran a store in Ernestown where he was a so-called “jack of all trades.” Purdy 

                                                           
43 Sunbury County Vital Statistics, from Ward’s Scrapbook, Provincial Archives. July 8, 1797, 

Harriet Irving Library, University of New Brunswick. A recent work that examines slavery in the 

Maritimes is Harvey Amani Whitfield, North to Bondage: Loyalist Slavery in the Maritimes. 

(Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 2016). Other works on Loyalist slavery in the 

Maritimes are Harvey Amani Whitfield, “The Struggle over Slavery in the Maritime Colonies.” 

Acadiensis, 41, no. 2 (Summer/Autumn 2012): 17-44; and Harvey Amani Whitfield and Barry 

Cahill, “Slave Life and Slave Law in Colonial Prince Edward Island, 1769-1825.” Acadiensis, 38, 

no. 2 (Summer/Autumn 2009): 29-51.  
44 Hale, Early New Brunswick Probate Records, 1785-1835, 198.  
45 1798 St. John’s Island Heads of Household Census, Lot 17.  
46 List of Speakers 1773-1981; List of Members 1773-1892, anonymous monograph, no date, 

Public Archives and Records Office of Prince Edward Island. 
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sold a variety of goods including potash, tobacco, tea, liquor, clothing, utensils, drugs 

and ointments. He also worked as a blacksmith, shoemaker and carpenter. Carpentry had 

been the trade of his father in Newburgh, and also of his brother. Purdy ran the shop 

himself although he occasionally had hired help. He owned the store from at least 1808 

to 1837.  Purdy was well liked by his neighbors who declared him “to be an honest, sober 

man, upright in his dealings: and apparently a Christian.”47  

 Within a few decades, most of the Loyalists from Newburgh had passed away. 

Reverend John Sayre died in August 1784, about a year after his arrival.48 In his will he 

manumitted his slave Rosanna.49 Sayre’s son James became an influential man in the 

province and owned a general store and a small mill in Maugerville. In 1803, Sayre 

                                                           
47 Gilbert Purdy Account Book: 1808-1837.  
48 Loyalist Claim of John Sayre, AO12/1/356-368. American Loyalists Collection, Manuscripts 

and Archives Division. The New York Public Library. 
49 Hale, Early New Brunswick Probate Records, 1785-1835, 393. 

Figure 19: The headstone of Abigail (Fowler) Flewelling, in Hatfield's Point, New Brunswick. She was 
born c. 1752 and died in 1833, at the age of eighty. The headstone reads “In Memory of Abigail, relict of 
the late Abel Flewwelling [sic], who departed this life January 21st, 1833, aged 80 years.” Photo taken 
by the author. 
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moved to Dorchester Island, in the eastern part of New Brunswick where he became a 

community leader, serving as town officer, justice of the peace and later sheriff. He lived 

there until his death in 1849.50 John Flewelling, who worked as an innkeeper in King’s 

County, died in 1788, leaving his estate to his widow.51 His brother Abel outlived him 

by twenty-six years, dying in Maugerville in 1814. Abel’s wife, Abigail, removed to 

Hatfield’s Point in Kings County after Abel’s death, dying in 1833.52 John Morrell died 

in 1818 at age eighty-five and included his grandson who still lived in the United States 

in his will, leaving him fifty dollars “if he be living.”53 Stephen Pine did not live long 

after arrival in New Brunswick, passing away in 1787.54 George Harding died in 

Maugerville in 1808, while his brother William died in St. John ten years later, in 1818.55 

Probably the last Loyalist from Newburgh to pass away, who was an adult during the 

war, was Benjamin Darby, who lived in St. Eleanors on Prince Edward Island. He passed 

away in 1844 at the age of 100, and at the time of his death had resided in Canada for 

sixty-one years.56  

 

Many of Newburgh’s Loyalists, particularly poor Anglicans, chose to settle in 

Canada rather than return home, with most settling in New Brunswick. Several of the 

                                                           
50 Della M.M. Stanley, “SAYRE, JAMES,” in Dictionary of Canadian Biography, vol. 7, 

University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003-, accessed February 21, 2016. 
51 Hale, Early New Brunswick Probate Records, 1785-1835, 153.  
52 Hale, Early New Brunswick Probate Records, 1785-1835, 152. 
53 Hale, Early New Brunswick Probate Records, 1785-1835, 318.  
54 Hale, Early New Brunswick Probate Records, 1785-1835, 362.  
55 Hale, Early New Brunswick Probate Records, 1785-1835, 198.  
56 Linda Jean Nicholson, Early Prince Edward Island Probate Records: 1786 to 1850. 

(Charlottetown: Transcontinental Prince Edward Island, 2004), 88. 
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Loyalists, such as John Sayre, George Harding and William Harding, participated in the 

organization and planning of the Loyalist settlement. After arriving, the Loyalists tried 

to recreate aspects of their old society by settling near other Newburgh Loyalists and also 

by remaining attached to the Church of England. A number of the Loyalists also used 

their exile as an opportunity to move up the social ladder, and increase their wealth. 

Several of the Loyalists owned slaves, and also served in government. Newburgh’s 

Loyalists who chose to settle in Canada were generally poor Anglicans, and recreated 

semblances of their old society by settling near erstwhile neighbors, clinging to their 

Anglican faith, while simultaneously bettering their societal status. 

Figure 20: The headstone of Benjamin Darby and his second wife Sarah, located at St. John’s Anglican 
Church, St. Eleanors, Prince Edward Island. The inscription reads Sacred To The Memory of Sarah Wife Of 
Benjamin Darby Senior Who Departed This Life The 16 of May 1827 Aged 66 Years Also The Above 
Benjamin Darby Who Died the 2nd of March 1844 Aged 100 Years. Photo taken by David Walker. 
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CONCLUSION 

 Examining the Loyalists of Newburgh, New York illustrates patterns in loyalism in 

the Hudson Valley and in loyalism more generally. This case study approach allows for an 

in-depth examination of a Loyalist community’s origins, composition, wartime activities, 

and post-war exile. It enables us to answer several questions; how did this Loyalist 

community in the Hudson Valley originate? Who comprised it? What happened to these 

individuals during the war? And how did this community grapple with post-war exile?   

 Newburgh’s Loyalist community demonstrates how pre-war migration and 

community religious conflict divided towns along religious lines in terms of political 

loyalty. After its founding in 1709, Newburgh’s economy expanded and attracted new 

settlers of various sects. While the Anglicans became the most influential sect in the 

community and had control of the glebe, there was intense religious conflict between them 

and Newburgh’s dissenters. The religious conflict split the community when the American 

Revolution arrived, as many Anglicans remained loyal to the King while nearly all of the 

dissenters, predominately Presbyterians, supported the Revolution. Additionally, many of 

the Anglicans who moved to Newburgh before the Revolution were poor, meaning that the 

Loyalist community tended to be poorer than the Patriots’.   

 The composition of the Loyalist community shows how it was shaped by religious 

and economic factors, and also complicates traditional assumptions concerning New York 

loyalism. The Loyalists, as a result of pre-war migration and religious strife, were 

predominately Anglican and of the middle and lower ranks of Newburgh. The Loyalists 

also tended to be farmers or minor artisans, were generally uninvolved with town 
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government, and also were frequently related to one another. Some of this refutes 

assumptions concerning New York loyalism. It has often been argued that Loyalists in New 

York were wealthier than Patriots, and this may be true when considering New York City 

but this work, along with Jonathan Clark’s article “The Problem of Allegiance in 

Revolutionary Poughkeepsie” both conclude that Loyalists in each community were poorer 

than the Patriots. While a more in depth examination of the Hudson Valley Loyalists is 

needed, initial research both by Clark and myself, suggests the probability that Loyalists in 

this region were typically poorer than their Revolutionary counterparts.  

The wartime experiences of the Loyalists demonstrate how location, the number of 

individuals in a Loyalist cohort, British military movement, geographic knowledge, 

religion and wealth shaped wartime experiences. Located in the Mid-Hudson Valley, 

Newburgh was situated in an important strategic area. As the British military threat grew 

from 1775 to 1777, Newburgh’s Patriots became increasingly aggressive in rooting out 

Loyalists, fearing that they would be a fifth column during a British attack. Newburgh’s 

Patriots also were vigilant because the precinct had a large Loyalist population, making the 

internal threat more realistic than in other communities. As a result of persecution, many 

of the Loyalists fled or tried to flee to British-controlled New York City. Upon arriving 

there, many served in the Loyalist Provincial Corps. They were utilized for their knowledge 

of the region, serving a guides and recruiters in the countryside. Religion and wealth also 

played a role during the war, as Newburgh’s poor Anglicans faced persecution earlier on 

during the conflict and also tended to be more militant than other Loyalists. 
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After the war, many of the Loyalists went to exile in Canada rather than returning 

home. Most of Newburgh’s Loyalists who left the United States went to New Brunswick. 

In grappling with their defeat during the war, they sought to maintain semblances of their 

old society. They settled near one another and also remained active members of the Church 

of England. The Loyalists, many of whom were poor in Newburgh, also used their exile as 

an opportunity to improve their social status.  

 This thesis shows how a Loyalist community in the Hudson Valley formed 

and evolved, by examining its composition, how it reacted to and was affected by the 

American Revolution, and how it grappled with post-war exile. The origins of the Loyalist 

community date to pre-war religious conflict and migration in the 1740s, 1750s and 1760s, 

both of which caused the backbone the community to consist of Anglicans in Newburgh’s 

middle and lower ranks. Given Newburgh’s location in a region under military threat by 

Great Britain, and the Loyalist community’s relative size, the Loyalists faced significant 

persecution from Patriots, and many fled to British lines. After the war, the Loyalists tried 

to reconstruct features of Newburgh in Canada by settling near one another and structuring 

their lives around the Church of England. This thesis demonstrates how migration, religion, 

wealth, and geographic location shaped Loyalist communities and their experiences.
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APPENDIX: BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES OF THE LOYALISTS FROM 

NEWBURGH 

 

Aldridge, Peter 

Signed Association?: No 

Aldridge was accused along with Daniel Reynolds of harboring “enemies of the United 

States” in May 1777, and also of assisting other Loyalists escape to New York City. He 

was found not guilty. Aldridge still lived in Newburgh as of 1790.  

Brinkley, John 

Occupation: Tailor 

Signed Association?: N/A 

Escaped to New York City.  

Burnet, William 

Occupation: Farmer 

Signed Association?: N/A 

Escaped to New York City. 

Combs, Solomon 

Occupation: Farmer 

Religion: Anglican 

Signed Association?: N/A 

Combs was caught fleeing to New York City in April 1777. He said he was encouraged 

by Stephen and Jonathan Pine to escape as it would be “better for him.” Combs claimed 

he had no intention of enlisting in the British forces, rather he was going to visit his uncle 

on Long Island. He was imprisoned. While confined, he signed two petitions begging for 

forgiveness, and asking to be released. He sent another petition by himself saying he had 

been misguided by “wicked” men and learned the error of his ways. Combs claimed to 

be getting sick in prison and offered to take an oath of allegiance in exchange for release. 

He signed another petition with Robert Denton and James Cosman pledging three years 

of military service in exchange for their release. Combs signed yet another petition with 

Denton on April 14, asking for forgiveness and release. He petitioned several more times 

for release and among other things, complained about the prison conditions.  

Cosman, James 
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Religion: Anglican  

Signed Association?: Yes 

Cosman was among those captured when fleeing to New York City in April 1777. He 

claimed he was visiting Long Island, and that he had a brother in American service who 

he wanted to bring clothing. He signed a petition offering to enter American military 

service in exchange for his release on April 14, 1777.  

Darby, Benjamin1 

Occupation: Shoemaker (He may have also worked part-time as a tailor) 

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:4:0 

Signed Association?: Yes 

Darby signed the association. He partook in the mass Newburgh escape in April 1777. 

Afterwards he was confined by the Provincial Convention in Kingston. He was allowed 

to go home on parole very briefly in July, but then was apprehended by Patriots in 

Newburgh who brought him to and imprisoned him in Fort Montgomery. As he was 

confined in violation of an order of the New York Provincial Convention, the Convention 

ordered he be set free. He probably escaped to New York City in 1777, leaving his wife, 

Lois, behind. Lois stayed with Donnelly family initially, as she was left destitute. The 

father of James Donnelley sold the remaining leather left behind by Darby, the proceeds 

from which were given to Lois. In 1779, with permission, Darby navigated a sloop to 

Newburgh and brought his family with him to New York City. After the war he briefly 

settled in Grimross, New Brunswick, before moving to St. Eleanors, Prince Edward 

Island in 1786, where he was neighbors with New Windsor Loyalist, John Welling. 

Darby served as an assemblyman in the Prince Edward Island House of Assembly in the 

1790s. Darby died in 1844, at the age of 100. In all probability, he was the last Loyalist 

from Newburgh (who was an adult during the war) living at the time of his death.  

Denton, Daniel 

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £3:1:8  

Signed Association?: No 

Denton refused to take the Oath of Allegiance. Consequently, in compliance with New 

York law, he was removed to British lines on September 4, 1778.  

                                                           
1 In some documents his name is spelled “Derby.”  
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Denton, Robert 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £2:19:0 

Signed Association?: N/A 

Denton tried to escape to New York City in the winter of 1776-1777 but failed. He tried 

to escape again in April 1777 but was apprehended. It appears he wanted to join British 

forces, and he claimed he was enticed to flee by James Leonard, who was already behind 

British lines. After being confined, he petitioned numerous times for release and 

forgiveness, and even offered military service in exchange for his release.  

Devine, Samuel 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:3:9 

Signed Association?: No 

Devine drank to the damnation of Congress in January, 1776 and also discussed seizing 

a committee man and bringing them to the British for a reward. As a result of these 

actions, some of his property was confiscated. He also refused to show up for militia 

duty. On February 18, 1777, Devine was sentenced to death for treason as he physically 

assaulted a superior officer in the militia. Clemency was recommend and George Clinton 

agreed to pardon him. However, Devine continued to be confined in Kingston. His 

neighbors petitioned for his release August 21, 1777.  Devine signed a petition on August 

23, 1777 with other prisoners requesting more provisions, and complained of conditions 

in the jail. By December 1778 he had been released, and he was charged with a felony 

along with his wife. Six months later, in June 1779, he was indicted for receiving stolen 

goods, but was found not guilty.  

Flewelling, Abel 

Occupation: Carpenter 

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £2:14:0 

Signed Association?: No 

Flewelling owned 120 acres of mostly cleared land in Newburgh, which he bought three 

years before “the troubles” and was married to Abigail Fowler, the daughter of Samuel 

Fowler. He signed Cadwallader Colden’s protest against electing delegates to the New 

York Provincial Congress. Flewelling fled to New York City in March 1777. He served 

as a guide on a British ship commanded by Sir James Wallace during the Battle of Fort 

Montgomery and also during the raid on Danbury. Afterwards he served in the Engineers 

Department and then was “master of a yacht serving on Captain Mercer.” When claiming 
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compensation after the war, Cadwallader Colden vouched for his loyalty. Flewelling 

initially settled in Long Reach, New Brunswick, but later removed to Maugerville where 

he served as a magistrate. He died in Maugerville in 1814, and his wife Abigail died at 

Hatfield’s Point, New Brunswick in January 1833. 

Flewelling, James2 

Signed Association?: N/A 

James Flewelling was probably the brother to Abel, John and Morris, however, there is 

scant information available. Regardless, it is without doubt that he was related to 

Flewellings and it seems highly likely he lived in Newburgh. Flewelling joined Claudius 

Smith’s gang of Loyalists, but was captured. He was hanged on June 8, 1779 in retaliation 

for the murder of Patriot John Clark by others in Smith’s band. 

Flewelling, John 

Occupation: Cordwainer  

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:14:0 

Signed Association?: No 

Flewelling served as supervisor of Newburgh in 1773. He was accused of constantly 

talking about fleeing to a joining the British. He was the leader of the mass Loyalist 

escape from Newburgh in April 1777, but was captured. He claimed to be going to 

business in New Jersey. As he was viewed as the leader, Flewelling was locked 

separately from the other prisoners in Kingston, on one of the prison ships. He petitioned 

for release from prison and promised to renounce King George if freed. However, he 

escaped from prison on August 26, 1777 and successfully reached British lines. His 

family joined him in New York City in November 1779. He went to Canada after the 

war, settling in Long Reach, New Brunswick, where he was an innkeeper. Flewelling 

died in 1788.  

Flewelling, Morris3 

Religion: Anglican  

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £4:4:0 

                                                           
2 As I cannot determine who James Flewelling is or where he lived beyond a reasonable doubt, I 

do not count him as a Loyalist during my analytical breakdown in chapter two.  
3 Morris Flewelling was effectively neutral, so I do not consider him a Loyalist when discussing 

the composition of the community in chapter two. I include him in this appendix only because of 

his family and wife.  



151 
 

Signed Association?: No 

Morris was the brother of Abel and John. Despite his family connections, he was the 

Supervisor of Newburgh in 1776.  He died during war, by 1779. His wife Jane went to 

New York City with her in-laws in November 1779. Jane returned to Newburgh after the 

war and married Loyalist Elnathan Foster. 

Foster, Elnathan 

Occupation: Farmer 

Religion: Presbyterian but Methodist after the war  

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £1:18:4.75 

Signed Association?: Yes 

Foster initially signed the Association. He was very uncooperative with local militia and 

then tried to flee to British lines in April 1777 but was apprehended. When interviewed, 

claimed to be a friend to America, excused his absence from the Newburgh militia, 

claiming sickness. When asked why he was going south, said he was going to South 

Hampton, where he was originally from. Foster was imprisoned, and petitioned multiple 

times with others, asking for better conditions, forgiveness, and for release. In one of his 

petitions he said he needed to return home as his wife was dying. On May 26, Foster was 

released on the condition he did not leave his farm and or act “inimical” to American 

liberty. Newburgh’s Patriots apprehended him again on May 29th in violation of the 

orders of the New York Provincial Convention. The Convention refused to confine Foster 

and instead reprimanded the Newburgh Committee of Safety. On June 13, 1777, Foster 

asked and was granted permission to go stay with his sister in New Paltz, as he was sick 

and out of money. He was confined again in July along with Benjamin Darby at Fort 

Montgomery. However, by August 1780 he was back on his farm where he had an 

incident with a Continental Dragoon. The dragoon, J. Sullivan, forced Foster to take three 

horses and let them graze from Fosters’ pasture. Enraged, Foster appealed to a judge to 

have the horses removed, and the judge agreed. Sullivan, however, refused to move his 

horses and instead physically attacked the judge. Foster’s first wife, Jerusha, died on 

August 25, 1786. The following year Foster married Jane Flewelling, the widow of 

Morris. In later years he helped establish the Methodist Church in Newburgh. He lived 

in Newburgh the remainder of his life, dying in 1822, and was buried in the Old Town 

Cemetery.  

Fowler, Samuel 

Occupation: Farmer 

Religion: Anglican 
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Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £10:13:5.25 

Signed Association?: No 

Fowler was the father in law to George Merritt and Abel Flewelling. He refused to sign 

the Association in 1775, but managed to remain neutral for a few years. However, when 

asked to take an oath of allegiance in 1778, he refused and was exiled to New York City 

on August 1, 1778. He returned to Newburgh after the war, dying in 1789, and was buried 

in the Old Town Cemetery.  

Gardner, Silas 

Occupation: Farmer 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:16:10 

Religion: Anglican  

Signed Association?: Yes 

Gardner originally signed the Association. Surreptitiously, he frequently traveled back 

and forth from New York City and Long Island. On one trip to New York City he met 

prominent Loyalist John Johnson who gave him thirty dollars and a gold ring in exchange 

for bringing his wife, Lady Johnson, to New York. He returned to Newburgh but had 

second thoughts and went back to New York where he returned to ring to John Johnson. 

While traveling with a companion on another trip to New York City in April 1777 he 

was caught near Paramus, New Jersey. He was confined in Goshen initially, before being 

brought before the Commission for Detecting and Defeating Conspiracies. He took an 

oath of allegiance and was released on April 26, however, he was apprehended by local 

Patriots only hours after returning home. He was brought to Fort Montgomery, tried, and 

sentenced to death on May 3, 1777 for holding correspondence with enemies of the 

United States. A few days later he was pardoned but remained imprisoned. While 

imprisoned, he petitioned claiming his innocence. He later also complained of prison 

conditions. After the British captured Fort Montgomery, Gardner was moved to Hartford, 

Connecticut where he remained imprisoned. He was later released. Gardner still lived in 

Newburgh in 1790.  

Gedney, David 

Religion: Anglican  

Occupation: Farmer 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £3:10:0 

Signed Association?: No 

Escaped to New York City. 
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Harding, George 

Occupation: Carpenter  

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:2:6 

Signed Association?: No 

Harding was driven from his farm by Patriots on December 15, 1775.  He fled to 

Governor Tryon’s Fleet in New York Harbor, which he reached in February 1776. He 

became a guide for the British army and carried messages through American lines to Fort 

Niagara and Quebec and also scouted American positions in the Hudson Valley. He also 

recruited men in the countryside to join the Loyalist unit the Guides and Pioneers. 

Harding became a Captain in Thomas Ward’s Loyalist unit and was stationed on Bergen 

Neck in New Jersey. Harding’s wife and family joined him in New York City in 

November, 1779. Harding was also tied to Claudius Smith’s Loyalist gang, with whom 

he plotted to kidnap Governor George Clinton in 1781. Following the war, Harding 

settled in New Brunswick and filed for compensation in 1790. Due to the extent of his 

services, Henry Clinton, Frederick Haldimand and Beverly Robinson each served as 

witnesses supported his claim. Harding settled in Maugerville, where he became a 

vestryman at the town’s Anglican Church. He was a slave owner. Harding died in 1808. 

Harding, William 

Occupation: Shoemaker 

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:4:6 

Signed Association?: Yes 

Harding was the brother of George Harding. He signed the Association. He was a 

shoemaker, but also owned sloop. He fled to New York City early in the war. With the 

British, he served as a pilot on some of their ships and was also sent on expeditions into 

the “Enemys [sic] Country.” There he was captured, and claimed he would have been 

executed if he had not escaped. Along with his brother, he served as a Captain in Thomas 

Ward’s Loyalist unit, and saw combat in New Jersey. After the war, he briefly settled in 

Annapolis Royal in Nova Scotia before moving to New Brunswick. He died in St. John 

in 1818.  

Ireland, Thomas 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £1:6:8.5 

Signed Association?: No 
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Ireland was among those apprehended in April 1777 when fleeing to British lines. He 

claimed to be visiting uncle on Long Island, although he didn’t know the name of the 

town his uncle lived in and had never been there before. 

Knapp, Moses 

Occupation: Farmer  

Signed Association?: No 

Upon learning that he would be detained on February 14, 1776, Knapp fled to Royal 

Governor William Tryon’s fleet in New York Harbor. Tryon asked Knapp to return to 

countryside and recruit men, and he did, recruiting seventy-nine. On May 4, 1776, he 

sailed to Halifax with recruits and was made a sergeant in the New York Volunteers. He 

came back to New York with William Howe’s army and saw action at Long Island and 

White Plains. Sometime after, however, he was captured. After being brought before the 

Commission for Detecting and Defeating Conspiracies he was sent to the Kingston 

prison. According to Patriots, while being held captive he expressed regret for his actions 

and said he saw the error of his ways. He petitioned the New York Provincial Convention 

in March 1777 saying he would not go back to enemy and offered to take an oath of 

allegiance. He took the oath in September 1777 and was presumably discharged. He soon 

after returned to his unit on Long Island. He continued to recruit men and also garrisoned 

a fort on Long Island. For an unknown reason, he was demoted to private. After the war, 

he claimed to have escaped from prison but was probably fabricated the story to enhance 

the validity of his claim as well as hide that he took an oath of allegiance. His sons died 

during the war, and Knapp settled in New Brunswick, “penniless.”  

Leonard, George 

Occupation: Farmer 

Signed Association?: Yes 

Escaped to New York City. 

Leonard, James 

Occupation: Carpenter 

Signed Association?: No 

Leonard left Newburgh during war and went to Long Island. He enticed other residents 

in Newburgh join him behind British lines.  

Leonard, John 

Occupation: Tailor 
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Signed Association?: N/A 

Escaped to New York City.  

Lewis, Benjamin 

Occupation: Boatman 

Signed Association?: No 

Escaped to New York City.  

Merritt, George 

Religion: Anglican  

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £3:5:7 

Signed Association?: No 

Merritt was removed to British lines in August 1778 for refusing to take an oath of 

allegiance.  

Mitchell, William 

Religion: Anglican  

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £1:15:7 

Signed Association?: Yes 

In the fall of 1776, Mitchell was apprehended as a suspected loyalist. He was imprisoned 

in Fishkill and then sent to New Hampshire. His neighbors were very upset with his 

removal. The prison guard in New Hampshire informed the Committee for Detecting and 

Defeating Conspiracies that Mitchell behaved very well and should be permitted to return 

home. Mitchell returned to New York and in March 1777 appeared before Commission 

for Conspiracies in Fishkill where he took an oath of allegiance and was permitted to 

return home. Mitchell was apparently acquainted with George Clinton who argued for 

Mitchell’s release and claimed he was a good, honest man. Clinton wrote a letter on his 

behalf. Mitchell still lived in Newburgh in 1790. 

Morrel, John 

Occupation: Carpenter 

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:18:6 

Signed Association?: No 
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Morrell was sent with Adam Patrick and Isaiah Purdy as prisoners to the New York 

Provincial Congress on July 18, 1775. While he claimed to be imprisoned for three 

months, documents show he was released ten days later, on July 28. He fled to the British 

around the time New York City was captured in the fall of 1776. While there, he joined 

the Engineer’s department as carpenter. He also raised men for Colonel Fanning’s 

regiment, but did not receive a commission for his service as he expected. His wife 

Densey joined him in November, 1779. With his family, he rented a farm in Long Island, 

before leaving New York in 1783, and settling in Belleisle, New Brunswick. He died in 

Kingston, New Brunswick in 1818 at age 85. 

Patrick, Adam 

Signed Association?: No 

Patrick was sent as prisoner to the New York Provincial Congress along with John 

Morrell and Isaiah Purdy on July 18, 1775 as they had “principles very inimical to the 

grand cause.” Patrick was released ten days later. 

Penney, Joseph 

Occupation: Schoolteacher  

Religion: Anglican 

Signed Association?: No 

Penney was a native of Yorkshire, England and a schoolteacher. He was taken into 

custody as a suspicious person December 1776. He remained confined in 1777 and 

petitioned for release on June 13, 1777.  

Pine, Alpheus  

Signed Association?: N/A 

Alpheus was the son of Stephen Pine, and was a teenager during the war, but vouched 

for his father when he applied for compensation. He went with his father to New 

Brunswick after the war. He probably lived in St. John as he served in the militia there 

from 1809-1811. He seems to have also been a merchant on the St. John River, and once 

nearly got into a fistfight with Benedict Arnold over a business transaction. He moved to 

Maine for a time, before returning to St. John where he died at age eighty-four in 1846.  

Pine, Jonathan 

Signed Association?: No 

Jonathan was the brother of Stephen Pine who was behind British by April 1777. He and 

his brother encouraged Solomon Combs to flee Newburgh and come to New York City. 
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Jonathan and Stephen’s wives (Mary and Susannah) applied for and received passes to 

join their husbands.  

Pine, Stephen 

Signed Association?: N/A 

Stephen Pine was the father of Alpheus and the brother of Jonathan. He and his brother 

encouraged Solomon Combs to flee to New York City in 1777. Stephen’s wife joined 

him in New York City in 1777. Behind British lines, Stephen served in the Wagon 

Department and as a guide. After the war, he settled in Queens County, New Brunswick, 

and died in 1787.  

Purdy, David (Probably the Brother of Gilbert) 

Occupation: Farmer  

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £3:2:0 

Signed Association?: N/A 

Purdy was apprehend with Stephen Wiggins, October 27, 1775.   

Purdy, David (Son of Gilbert) 

Signed Association?: N/A 

David Purdy fled to British lines in 1776 and served one year in the Guides and Pioneers. 

After his service, he “worked for his subsistence” for the rest of the war. He spent the 

winter of 1783-1784 at a Loyalist refugee camp in Sorel, Quebec, before settling in 

Cataraqui, in what became Upper Canada in 1791.  

Purdy, Gilbert 

Occupation: Carpenter 

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £6:9:6 

Signed Association?: No 

Purdy was brought before Committee for detecting conspiracies in February 1777, took 

an oath of allegiance and then released. Later that year he fled to New York City and 

joined the Guides and Pioneers. He died “on passage” to Philadelphia. After the war, 

much of his family settled in what would become Upper Canada. 

Purdy, Isaiah 
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Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £3:0:0 

Signed Association?: No 

Purdy was sent to New York Provincial Congress with John Morrell and Adam Patrick 

in July 1775. He was released ten days later. He was later confined again and remained 

prisoner until he was released in January 1777 due to sickness.  

Purdy, Nathan 

Occupation: Cooper 

Religion: Anglican  

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £3:1:1 

Signed Association?: No 

Escaped to New York City. 

Reynolds, Daniel 

Signed Association?: No 

On May 3, 1777, at Fort Montgomery, Peter Aldridge and Reynolds were charged with 

harboring enemies of the country. They were listed as accomplices to Loyalists. Both 

were found not guilty. Reynolds was again indicted on a charge of receiving stolen goods 

from James Flewelling in June 1779. He was found guilty, fined and sent to prison for 

six months. 

Sayre, John4 

Religion: Anglican 

Occupation: Minister  

Signed Association?: No5  

Sayre was born in New York in 1738. He was appointed minister to Newburgh in 1769 

and served there until 1774 when he went to Fairfield, Connecticut. In Fairfield he faced 

persecution from Patriots, at one point being forcibly removed from the town. In 1779, 

he joined Governor Tryon after Tryon’s raid on Fairfield and return with him to New 

York City. Sayre became a leader of the refugee community by servicing Anglicans and 

working as a doctor. At the end of the war, he was a chaplain for the American Legion. 

                                                           
4 As John Sayre was technically a resident of Fairfield, Connecticut when the war began, I do not 

consider him in chapter two analysis.  
5 Sayre was in Fairfield when he refused to sign the Association.  
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He helped organize the Loyalist settlement in New Brunswick and was the founder of 

the Maugerville Anglican Parish. Sayre fell sick and died in 1784.  

Smith, Benjamin 

Occupation: Farmer  

Religion: Presbyterian  

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £3:1:0 

Signed Association?: Yes 

Smith originally signed the Association. He was appointed a first lieutenant in militia in 

1775, but later resigned commission. He tried fleeing to New York City in April 1777 

but was captured. He claimed to be visiting family on Long Island, and planned to wait 

out war there in peace. He was first brought to jail in Goshen and then to Kingston. He 

was released on July 1, 1777 after taking an oath of allegiance.  

Staples, John I. 

Signed Association?: N/A 

Occupation: Farmer 

Escaped to New York City. 

Totten, James 

Signed Association?: N/A6 

In June, 1779, Totten was charged with harboring James Flewelling, a felon. He was 

found guilty and then sentenced to a year in jail and fined £100.  

Wiggins, John 

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:5:6 

Signed Association?: No 

Wiggins fled to British lines in February, 1777. He served in the Barrack Masters 

department until 1781. He lived in a house on Chapel Street in New York City with his 

family. After the war, he settled in New Brunswick, in St. John County. He noted that 

the house he lived in was sold by the Americans after the war.  

                                                           
6 A “Jonas” Totten refused to sign the Association. It is likely they were the same person, but it 

cannot be confirmed.  
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Wiggins, Stephen 

Religion: Anglican 

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £7:13:3 

Signed Association?: No 

Wiggins was apprehended by the militia along with David Purdy on October 27, 1775.  

He later went to serve in British forces and had his property seized. His wife Elizabeth 

petitioned to allow her sons, who had served in the militia, to have the property instead 

of it being confiscated. She insisted that her husband left against her advice and that she 

could not support a family with all the property seized. Local patriots, such as Thomas 

Palmer support her claim, saying she seemed upset by her husband’s departure. However, 

he petition was denied. Elizabeth joined her husband in New York in November 1779. 

Wood, Stephen 

Occupation: Tailor 

Religion: Presbyterian  

Estimate of Real and Personal Estates: £0:18:11 

Signed Association?: No 

He was caught fleeing to New York City in April 1777. He petitioned complaining about 

prison conditions and also said he needed to be released to support his family. Later he 

was released and joined the militia, but deserted in 1779 and went to New York City.  

Wright, William 

Occupation: Carpenter 

Religion: Anglican  

Signed Association?: Yes 

Wright originally signed the Association. He later fled and escaped to New York City.  

Wyatt, David 

Religion: Anglican 

Signed Association?: No 

Wyatt was among those caught fleeing to New York City in April 1777. He was confined.  
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